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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

I.  Whether claims challenging certain statements describing a company’s 

environmental commitments, practices, and risks are actionable under Section 

10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as a matter of law, and whether 

those claims adequately plead scienter.  

II.  Whether a claim for control person liability under Section 20(a) of the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires an allegation that the control person 

was a culpable participant in the primary violation
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In 1962, James Wilson (“Wilson”) founded Red River, an oil exploration 

company, in West Texas. (R. at 2.) After 30 years, due in part to Wilson’s risky 

strategy of pouring large amounts of money into exploration and intensely 

drilling his property, Red River became a large producer of West Texas Light 

Crude. (Id.) In 1985, banks did not want to take on additional risk, so Wilson 

decided to take the company public. (R. at 2–3.) Wilson registered Red River 

under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”), with its common 

stock listed on the New York Stock Exchange. (R. at 3.)   

In addition to Wilson’s roles as founder and chief executive officer, 

Wilson also served as chairman of the board of directors. (Id.) Red River named 

Pamela Thompson (“Thompson”) as chief operating and environmental officer 

and Sandra Grimes (“Grimes”) as senior vice president and general counsel. 

(Id.) 

In the late 1990s, Wilson learned of a novel, but controversial technology 

used to access oil and gas called fracking. (R. at 3-4.) Fracking involves 

pulverizing shale rock formations by blasting millions of gallons of water that is 

mixed with chemicals, at high pressure, to crack the rock and bring the oil and 

gas to the surface. (R. at 3.) The process creates millions of gallons of 

wastewater, which is stored in closed container tanks and after the wastewater 

is treated it is injected underground. (R. at 4.) Despite the team’s hesitations, 

in 2000, Wilson introduced the first deep fracking wells in the West Texas 

Darnett Shale. (Id.)  
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In late 2017, over a two month period, Red River received phone calls 

from several university geology departments with reports of low-level seismic 

activity in Eagle Ford Shale, an area of Red River Fracking. (R. at 5.) 

Unconcerned by the reports, the environmental compliance team did not 

believe the activity related to fracking. (Id.) Likewise, Thompson and Grimes 

exchanged emails and agreed the reports did not rise to a level requiring 

disclosure and definitely did not warrant suspending fracking to investigate. 

(Id.) The engineering team notified Wilson of concerns that Red River’s toxic 

wastewater storage facilities were close to reaching capacity and suggested 

adding additional capacity to the facilities. (Id.) Unconcerned, Wilson told the 

team he would only expand storage facilities if he expanded operations. (Id.) 

In January 2018, Wilson told Thompson and Grimes he did not like how 

the Annual and Quarterly disclosures focused so much on minor 

environmental mishaps and that the disclosures gave an unbalanced 

impression of Red River as a good corporate citizen. (Id.) Wilson was frustrated 

by the burdensome cost of regulatory compliance and implication Wilson and 

Red River were less than upstanding citizens frustrated him. (R. at 3).  

On February 2, 2018, Wilson attended a talk on oil and heard the 

general counsel for a gas exploration company speak on environmental 

disclosure requirements. (R. at 6.) After the talk, Wilson told Thompson and 

Grimes he wanted a more positive tone for Red River’s public statements and 

public disclosure documents. (Id.) The disclosure documents were revised to 
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focus on environmental compliance and safe practices and submitted on March 

1, 2018. (Id.) The 10-K included the following statements: 

Statement 1: “Our commitment to the environment is unwavering 
and constant.” (Id.) 
 
Statement 2: “[T]here is no higher priority than ensuring that our 
drilling activity continues to be conducted in a manner consistent 
with preventing or remediating any damage resulting from an 
environmental occurrence.” (Id.) 
 
Statement 3: “We continue to conduct frequent environmental 
practices reviews to assure our commitment to environmental best 
practices and devote our most talented personnel and a 
substantial budget to ensure protection of the environment.” (Id.) 
 
Statement 4: “Our commitment to the environment is 
demonstrated through our investment in and adoption of the latest 
technology in order to minimize water or soil contamination. This 
commitment differentiates us from our competitors.” (Id.)  
 
Statement 5: “Fracking involves no serious environmental issues 
not associated with conventional drilling.” (Id.) 
 
In early May 2018, Red River received more calls from geology 

departments reporting increased low-level seismic activity in the Eagle Ford 

Shale. (R. at 7.) Thompson was concerned about the reports because she heard 

that low-level seismic activity attributed to fracking in South Dakota. (Id.) 

Thompson, Grimes, and Wilson spoke about the reports and decided the 

reports did not warrant market roiling disclosure. (Id.) They would investigate 

the reports, but it would be in conjunction with the environmental practices 

review in July. (Id.)  

On May 15, 2018, at an investors meeting, without clearing the 

statements with Thompson or Grimes, Wilson made the following statements:  
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Statement 6: “I think we have the tightest environmental practices 
in the West Texas oil patch.” (Id.) 
 
Statement 7: “Candidly, I honestly believe a major environmental 
event has about a zero percent chance of occurring on our 
property. We just pay too much attention for that to happen.” (Id.) 
 
On May 28, 2018, Red River received more calls about frequent low-level 

seismic activity in the Eagle Ford Shale. (R at 7.) Despite the most recent 

reports and Wilson’s statements at the investors meeting, Thompson and 

Grimes decided to still postpone the disclosure of reports citing increased low-

level seismic activity until after the environmental review. (Id.) Red River filed a 

10-Q on June 1, 2018, including the following statement:  

Statement 8: “Our operations could be subject to disruption by 
natural disasters beyond our control, including . . . severe storms, 
fires, earthquakes, civil unrest, and terrorist attacks.” (Id.) 
 
On June 3, 2018, the Teacher Retirement System of Fordham (“TRSF”) 

purchased Red River shares for $27 million and on June 7, 2018, the Fordham 

Municipal Retirement Fund (“FMRF”) purchased Red River shares for $31 

million (collectively, the “Respondents”). (R. at 8.) A series of mid-level seismic 

shocks rocked Eagle Ford Shale on June 10, 2018, destroying the integrity of 

Red River’s toxic wastewater facilities. (Id.) Millions of gallons of wastewater 

infiltrated the West Texas groundwater. (Id.) By the end of the day on June 10, 

2018, Red River’s stock price fell from $126 to $94. (Id.) 

On August 1, 2018, investigations revealed that Red River had been 

using excessive amounts of explosives to condition the shale rock for the 

injection process. (Id.) Reports revealed that the wastewater storage tanks were 

filled beyond recommended capacity, and the fracking process was the 
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proximate cause of the wastewater escaping the storage site. (Id.) However, 

reports were inconclusive as to whether blasting contributed to the seismic 

activity. (R. at 8.)  

On August 10, 2018, TRSF and FMRF filed this action under Section 

10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act, alleging that Red River and Wilson 

engaged in securities fraud. (Id.) On September 10, 2018, Red River and Wilson 

filed a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, asserting that under Section 10(b), 

TSRF and FMRF failed to identify actionable misstatements of material fact and 

failed to sufficiently plead scienter. (R. at 9.) Consequently, Red River asserted 

that because TSRF and FMRF failed to plead a primary violation against Red 

River the Section 20(a) claim necessarily failed. (Id.) However, even if TSRF and 

FMRF had adequately plead a primary violation, TSRF and FMRF failed to 

plead Wilson’s culpable participation. (Id.) 

The District Court granted Petitioner’s motion to dismiss both claims; 

however, the Fourteenth Circuit properly reversed the District Court and held 

that: (1) statements 2, 4, 5, 7, and 8 are actionable (R. at 17.) and the 

complaint adequately plead scienter (R. at 22.); and (2) the complaint 

adequately plead a primary violation and Wilson’s status as a control person 

(R. at 23.) and Section 20(a) does not require culpable participation to state a 

sufficiently legal claim. (R. at 25.) 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

This action was dismissed by the District Court pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) 

of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. In Ashcroft v. Iqbal, this Court 
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established that “a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted 

as true, to state a claim for relief that is plausible on its face.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 

556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). On appeal, a court reviews a district court’s 

dismissal for a failure to state a claim de novo. Doe v. United States, 831 F.3d 

309, 314 (5th Cir. 2016). 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Red River and Wilson’s motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim 

under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure is unsubstantiated. 

Respondents sufficiently plead with particularity that the statements made by 

Red River and Wilson are actionable under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act. 

Additionally, Respondents adequately plead scienter. To this end, Respondents 

have shown that the statements made by Red River and Wilson represent more 

than mere corporate mismanagement or generic statements of corporate 

optimism. Rather, the facts, when taken as a whole, paint a picture of a 

company trying to portray an image that was inconsistent with its actions. 

Specifically, Petitioners assert that Red River’s practices, risks, and 

environmental commitments were not only just as high as they could be, but 

its operations were far more sophisticated achieving a standard of care for the 

environment that far exceeded any other company engaged in fracking or other 

forms of conventional oil drilling. These assertions, when coupled with the 

internal dialogue of the company’s executives regarding the wastewater 

capacity and reports of increased low-level seismic activity amount to material 

omissions or misrepresentations that were made to investors.  
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Respondents also sued Wilson under a theory of control person liability 

pursuant to Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. Respondents have properly 

alleged a primary violation of the Exchange Act, which in this case is a Section 

10(b) violation. The facts alleged demonstrate that Wilson—in his role as the 

Founder, Chief Executive Officer, and Chairman of the Board—wielded enough 

control and significant power to influence the actions that led to the primary 

violation by the primary violator, Red River. However, the District Court 

dismissed the second cause of action because a third element, introduced by 

the Second Circuit, was not pled: culpable participation. However, a majority of 

circuits that have ruled on this issue have held that culpable participation is 

not required. Therefore, Respondents urge the court to adopt the majority rule. 

ARGUMENT 

 I.   STATEMENTS DESCRIBING A COMPANY’S ENVIRONMENTAL 
COMMITMENTS, PRACTICES, AND RISKS ARE ACTIONABLE UNDER 
SECTION 10(b) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RESPONDENT 
ADEQUATELY PLEAD SCIENTER.  

The first issue is whether the statements Red River made are actionable 

under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act. More specifically, can the statements 

be categorized as mismanagement and therefore not actionable, or do the 

statements rise to the level of fraudulent misstatements? Further, were the 

statements pled properly with scienter? 

Congress enacted the Exchange Act, in part, to implement a “philosophy 

of full disclosure” and protect investors in the market from false or misleading 

information that could harm them. Santa Fe Indus., Inc. v. Green, 430 U.S. 
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462, 477 (1977). Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, the principal antifraud 

provision of the federal securities laws, it protects investors from deceptive 

trading practice, in connection with a purchase or sale of a security. 15 U.S.C. 

§ 78j(b) (2012).  

To assert a successful claim under Section 10(b), a plaintiff must prove 

the following elements under Rule 10b-5: (1) a material misrepresentation or 

omission; (2) scienter; (3) in connection with (4) the purchase or sale of a 

security; (5) reliance; (6) economic loss; and (7) loss causation. Dura Pharm. v. 

Broudo, 544 U.S. 336, 341-42 (2005). The elements at issue here are: (1) 

material misrepresentation or omission and (2) scienter.  

A. Red River’s Commitment and Practices Statements (2-4) are 
actionable material misrepresentations and omissions, and are more 
than mere corporate mismanagement. 

Under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act “the conduct must have been 

deceptive.” Schreiber v. Burlington N. Inc., 472 U.S. 1, 105 (1985). A plaintiff 

must demonstrate, through a misrepresentation or omission, that the 

defendant’s deceptive conduct or statement “gives the victim a false 

impression.” SEC v. Dorozhko, 574 F.3d 42, 50 (2d. Cir. 2009). Generally, 

claims based on mere corporate mismanagement are a matter of state law; 

however, on occasion, this Court has found that “Rule 10b-5 is violated when 

there is deception touching the purchase or sale of a security even if the acts 

complained of amount to no more than corporate mismanagement.” 

Superintendent of Ins. v. Bankers Life & Casualty Co., 404 U.S. 6, 92 (1971).  
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In Santa Fe, minority shareholders brought a claim under Rule 10b-5 

against majority shareholders breach of fiduciary duty for undervaluation of 

the company’s shares. 430 U.S. 462, 493 (1977) This Court held that the claim 

was inactionable because a claim of mere corporate mismanagement, that, in 

essence, alleges that shareholders were treated unfairly by a fiduciary does not 

violate Section 10(b) in the absence of any deception, misrepresentation, or 

nondisclosure. Santa Fe Industries, Inc. v. Green, 430 U.S. 462, 473 (1977)  

Here, Statements 2-4 are more than mismanagement because the 

statements rise to a level of fraud involving either a material misrepresentation 

or omission of material fact and thus are actionable under Section 10(b). 

i. Statement 2: “There is no higher priority than ensuring that our 
drilling activity continues to be conducted in a manner 
consistent with preventing or remediating any damage resulting 
from an environmental occurrence.” March 1, 2019 10-K. (R. at 
6.) 

In In re BP P.L.C., Sec. Litig., in response to a string of safety failures in 

BP’s operations, the Baker Panel made recommendations regarding what BP 

should do to improve its ineffective safety culture and practices. 843 F. Supp. 

2d 712, 759 (S.D. Tex. 2012). The Baker Panel’s primary recommendation was 

for BP to “demonstrate their commitment to process safety by articulating a 

clear message on the importance of process safety and matching that message 

both with the policies they adopted and the actions they take.” Id. (emphasis 

added). BP embraced the first part of the recommendation with frequent and 

repeated statements such as “[w]e have consistently communicated that safe 
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and reliable operations are our highest priority,” and “our top priority 

continues to be the safety and reliability of our operations.” Id. at 732. Based 

on these statements, and more like them, the court found the claim actionable 

as a Section 10(b) violation because plaintiffs sufficiently alleged facts to call 

into question whether BP was in fact implementing the process safety reforms 

as they represented. Id. at 759.  

Here, like in BP P.L.C., Statement 2 misrepresents Red River’s priorities 

and creates an inference that preventative measures have been and will 

continue to be taken when issues are brought to Red River’s attention. Yet, Red 

River had notice from the engineering team that the toxic wastewater facilities 

were close to capacity and decided not to add additional wastewater storage 

facilities while representing to investors that they were taking preventative 

measures. This is incongruent with the actions of a company that is actually 

prioritizing its commitment to the environment.    

Statement 2 is material to investors because environmental accidents 

will likely have a material effect on a company’s financial condition and reduce 

shareholder value as a result. This statement gives investors the impression 

that Red River would respond to news about the wastewater facilities being at 

near capacity with the appropriate measures needed to prevent a potentially 

damaging environmental occurrence. A spill with millions of gallons of 

wastewater, infiltrating the drinking water, creates a significant clean-up 

project that is undoubtedly going to, and did, impact Red River’s stock price as 

a result of the event.  



R13 

11 

ii. Statement 4: “Our commitment to the environment is 
demonstrated through our investment in and adoption of the 
latest technology in order to minimize water or soil 
contamination. This commitment differentiates us from our 
competitors.” March 1, 2018 10-K. (R. at 6.) 

Half-truths are statements that accurately disclose some facts but create 

a materially misleading impression on the listener or reader by concealing 

other data for a true understanding. In re Vivendi, S.A. Sec. Litig., 838 F.3d 

223, 239 (2d Cir. 2016). Under Rule 10b-5, half-truths are misleading 

statements “by virtue of what they omit to disclose.” Id. In Universal Health 

Servs., Inc. v. United States, this Court held that “[t]he law is well settled . . . 

that so-called half-truths . . . will support claims for securities fraud.”136 S.Ct. 

1989, 2000 (2016). 

In In S.E.C. v. N. Am. Research & Dev. Corp., the Second Circuit held that 

a statement indicating that North American had acquired the patent to a 

process used to produce pollution-free coke was a half-truth and violated 

Section 10(b) because the company only owned the rights to the process and 

the process had not yet been patented. 424 F.2d 63, 65 (2d Cir. 1970) The 

court found the inflation of North American’s prospects in the pollution-free 

fuel field and deliberate use of ambiguities and half-truths rendered the 

statement materially false and misleading. Id.  

Here, like in North American, Statement 4 is a half-truth because it 

suggests that the technology Red River uses minimizes water contamination, 

and while it may be true that Red River has invested in the latest technology, 

the glaring omission is the extra risk Red River faces as it pertains to water 
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contamination. Using the “latest technology” does not matter if the company is 

negligent in properly maintaining the storage capacity of the wastewater 

facilities. Thus, Statement 4 is more than corporate mismanagement because 

the statement is a half-truth that gives favorable facts without disclosing the 

risks.  

Statement 4 is also material because water contamination is a very 

significant risk related to fracking and investors need accurate disclosure of 

risks inherent in these activities to make an informed investment decision. The 

cost associated with a water contamination clean-up will have a significant 

impact on Red River’s financials and will invariably reduce Red River’s capital 

and negatively impact the stock price. 

iii. Statement 3: “We continue to conduct frequent environmental 
practices reviews to assure our commitment to environmental 
best practices and devote our most talented personnel and a 
substantial budget to ensure protection of the environment.” 
March 1, 2018 10-K. (R. at 6.) 

In Caiola v. Citibank, N.A., New York, the plaintiff alleged that the 

defendant made material misrepresentations about its hedging strategies. 295 

F.3d 312, 330 (2d Cir. 2002). The defendant argued it was not liable under 

Rule 10b-5 because it had no duty to speak on their strategies. Id. The court 

held that “upon choosing to speak, one must speak truthfully about material 

issues.” Id. “Once [the defendant] chose to discuss its hedging strategy, it had a 

duty to be both accurate and complete.” Id. at 331.  

As in Caiola, once Red River decided to discuss its environmental 

practices it had a duty to give investors information that was accurate and 
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complete. In Statement 3, Red River said that they “devote [their] most talented 

personnel and a substantial budget” to the environment. While it may be true 

that Red River devotes their most talented personnel to the environment, they 

did not listen to the environmental concerns of the personnel. 

B. Red River’s Commitment and Risk statements and Wilson’s 
statements are Actionable Material Misrepresentations and Omissions 
under Section 10(b). 

“To be actionable, a misrepresentation of a fact, or an omission of a fact, 

must be material.” In re BP P.L.C., Sec. Litig., 843 F. Supp. 2d 712, 748 (S.D. 

Tex. 2012). In Matrixx Initiatives, Inc. v. Siracusano, this Court affirmed that 

there is “no bright-line rule for determining whether information withheld from 

a company’s filings is material[] as a matter of law.” 563 U.S. 27, 38 (2011). A 

misrepresentation or omission of fact is material for purposes of Rule 10b-5 if 

there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor “would” consider it 

as altering the “total mix” of information in deciding whether to buy or sell 

securities. Basic v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 231-32 (1988). 

i. Statement 5: “Fracking involves no serious environmental issues 
not associated with conventional drilling.” March 1, 2018 10-K. (R. 
at 6.) 

Statement 5 is materially misleading. While it is true that both fracking 

and conventional drilling can cause environmental issues fracking can be 

much more impactful. “Fracking is a much larger operation, requiring a more 

complex well to be drilled, millions of gallons of water to be trucked in and 

out,” and drilling much deeper below the Earth’s surface to access oil and gas 
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than conventional drilling does. Contracted Fracking, 92 Tul. L. Rev. 587, 597, 

(2018) Also, since fracking involves breaking up a layer of the Earth’s crust 

with dynamite along with the millions of gallons of water pressure used, and 

drilling involves neither of these processes, fracking contributes and causes 

more seismic activity and increases the likelihood of environmental 

occurrences more than drilling does.  

This statement is material because fracking can be a contributing factor 

to both the occurrence and magnitude of an earthquake. This could lead to a 

number of environmental disasters, up to and including destruction of the 

toxic wastewater facilities and other collateral damage. An investor would read 

this and think that there are no additional risks associated with fracking; but 

there are additional risks, and the company would have to deal with the clean-

up and aftermath of an earthquake, and that is something a drilling company 

will never have to deal with. The risk is that fracking will either cause or will 

increase the magnitude of the earthquake.  

ii. Statement 7: “Candidly, I honestly believe a major environmental 
event has about a zero percent chance of occurring on our 
property. We just pay too much attention for that to happen.” 
Wilson, May 15, 2018 Investor Conference. (R. at 7.)  

In SEC v. BP p.l.c., the SEC charged BP with misleading investors “by 

significantly understating the flow rate in multiple reports with the SEC. 

Complaint at 9, SEC v. BP p.l.c., No. 2:12-CV-02774 (E.D. La. Nov. 15, 2012). 

BP’s report was found materially false and misleading because BP submitted a 

report estimating a flow rate of “up to 5,000” barrels of oil per day (“bopd”) 
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despite being given estimates significantly above 5,000 bopd before the report 

was submitted. Id. The SEC found that “failing to disclose even the existence of 

data, estimates, and calculations that showed a higher flow rate also 

constituted omission so of material information regarding the flow rate.” Id. 

Here, Statement 7, like the report submitted by BP, is a material 

misrepresentation of the environmental risks Red River is facing, given the 

multiple warnings Red River recently received about low-level seismic activity 

on its property. Additionally, Wilson is making a precise prediction on the 

probability of a material risk with no factual basis to support his claim. This is 

a material statement because a reasonable investor would most certainly find 

the likelihood of an environmental event occurring important in making an 

investment decision. 

iii. Statement 8: “Our operations could be subject to disruption by 
natural disasters beyond our control, including . . . severe 
storms, fires, earthquakes, civil unrest, and terrorist attacks.” 
June 1, 2018 10-Q. (R. at 7-8.) 

Absent a duty to disclose, there is no general affirmative duty to disclose 

material nonpublic information just “because a reasonable investor would like 

to know that fact.” In re CDNOW, Inc. Securities Litigation, 138 F. Supp. 2d 624, 

633 (E.D. Pa. 2001). Nonetheless, a duty to disclose may be triggered: (1) when 

disclosure is required by a statute, regulation, or SEC mandate or (2) “when 

the company has previously made a statement of material fact that is false, 

inaccurate, incomplete, or misleading in light of the undisclosed information.” 

Shaw v. Digital Equipment Corp., 82 F.3d 1194, 1202 (1st Cir. 1996). “Once a 
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party makes a statement, a duty arises to disclose all information necessary to 

make the statement not misleading, even though there was no duty to make 

the statement in the first place.” Caiola, 295 F.3d 312, 331 (2d Cir. 2002).  

Statement 8 is a material omission based on an affirmative duty to 

disclose. While it is true that Red River cannot control natural disasters out of 

its control, it does have control over natural disasters for which it is a 

proximate cause. There is nothing in this statement that speaks to Red River 

potentially being a proximate cause of earthquakes, which is a very real risk in 

this industry.  

iv. Statement 6: “I think we have the tightest environmental 
practices in the West Texas oil patch.” Wilson, May 15, 2018 
Investor Conference. (R. at 7.) 

In Scritchfield v. Paolo, the court held that the defendant’s statement that 

it was the “premier,” “dominant,” and “leading” provider of communication 

services was more than mere puffery and must be interpreted by “reference to 

the relevant circumstances that underlie their meaning.” 274 F. Supp. 2d 163, 

175 (D.R.I. 2003). The court adopted a two-part test for determining whether a 

statement is puffery: 

[F]irst, the court should evaluate whether the statement is so vague, 
so general, or so loosely optimistic that a reasonable investor would 
find it unimportant to the total mix of information; second, the court 
should ask whether the statement was also considered unimportant 
to the total mix of information by the market as a whole. 
 

In re Number Nine Visual Tech. Corp. Sec. Litig, 51 F. Supp. 2d 1, 20 (D. Mass. 

1999).  
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Applying this test, the court found that the company’s statement 

presented a status and capabilities superior to all other communication 

providers in the Northeast Corrido and clearly implied a comparison to 

competitors. Id. at 175. The statement was material because it connoted 

“superiority over the vast majority of other bundled communication services 

providers.” Id.  

Here, Statement 6 is not mere puffery because it is comparing Red 

River’s environmental practices to the environmental practices of other 

companies in West Texas. Statement 6 is similar to the statement in 

Scritchfield that stated the company was the “premier provider.” While it is an 

opinion, stating that Red River had “the tightest environmental practices” is 

just like the opinion of being the “premier provider” of a product. This 

statement is also important to a reasonable investor because it provides 

assurances that Red River’s practices are not risky, and that Red River will 

continue to be successful.  

v. Statement 1: “Our commitment to the environment is unwavering 
and constant.” March 1, 2018 10-K. (R. at 6.) 

In Novak v. Kasaks, the Court held that “[w]hile statements containing 

simple economic projections, expressions of optimism, and other puffery are 

insufficient, defendants may be liable for misrepresentations of existing facts.” 

216 F.3d 300, 315 (2d Cir. 2000). In Novak, it was alleged that the defendants 

stated, “that the inventory situation was ‘in good shape’ or ‘under control’ while 

they allegedly knew that the contrary was true.” Id. 
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Additionally, Statement 1 is not mere puffery because it is specific about 

Red River’s commitment to the environment. This statement from the 10-K 

assures investors that Red River is taking environmental concerns seriously 

and are taking measures to ensure that Red River does not cause an 

environmental occurrence. Under the second prong of the test mentioned 

above, this statement is extremely important to the total mix information by 

the market as a whole. It is important because there had been no public 

statements regarding the low-level seismic activity nor was there any 

information about the engineering teams concerns over the toxic wastewater 

storage facilities. 

C. Respondent Has Alleged Sufficient Facts Giving Rise to a Strong 
Inference of Scienter.  

To state a claim under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, the plaintiff 

must also sufficiently plead that the defendant acted with the requisite 

scienter. Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 96 (1976). Under the 

Private Securities Litigation Reform Act (the “PSLRA”), in order to survive a 

motion to dismiss, “the complaint shall, with respect to each act or omission 

…, state with particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference that the 

defendant acted with the required state of mind.” 15 U.S.C. § 78(u)-4(b)(2)(A) 

(2012). 

The relevant inquiry into whether scienter is adequately plead “is 

whether all of the facts alleged, taken collectively, gives rise to a strong 

inference of scienter, not whether any individual allegation, scrutinized in 
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isolation, meets the standard.” Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 551 

U.S. 308, 319 (2007). In performing this analysis courts must “assess all of the 

allegations” to see if there are “plausible, nonculpable explanations for the 

defendant’s conduct, as well as inferences favoring the plaintiff.” Id. at 342. 

However, “the inference that the defendant acted with scienter need not be 

irrefutable, or a “smoking,” but rather must be cogent and compelling, [and] 

thus strong in light of the of other explanations.” Id.  

While this Court has left open the question of recklessness, the majority 

of lower court decisions have found that recklessness is sufficient to state a 

claim under Section 10(b). The most cited definition of recklessness, set forth 

by the Seventh Circuit, is defined in Sunstrand Corp. v. Sun Chemical Corp., as  

“a highly unreasonable omission, involving not merely simple, or 
even inexcusable negligence, but an extreme departure from the 
standards of ordinary care, and which presents a danger of 
misleading buyers or sellers that is either known to the defendant 
or so obvious that the actor must have been aware of it.”  

 

553 F.2d 1033, 1045 (7th Cir. 1977). 

Here, Respondent adequately alleges that Red River either knew or was 

reckless in not knowing that the information included in the 10-K, 10-Q, and 

Wilson’s statements were misleading and misrepresented material facts to 

investors.1   

                                       
 

1 The District Court applied the collective view of corporate scienter and neither party 
challenged this approach. The 14th Circuit held in Hansen v. Marcus that plaintiffs may satisfy 
their pleading burden by alleging facts that create a strong inference of corporate scienter 
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i. Petitioners Were Aware of Facts and/or Had Access to Information 
Contrary to Their Public Statements and Were Reckless by Failing to 
Further Investigate. 

In Nathel v. Siegal, the court held that when defendants had knowledge 

“that contradicted their public statements to Plaintiffs” this gives rise to a 

strong inference of scienter. 592 F. Supp. 2d 452, 465 (S.D.N.Y. 2008). In 

Nathel, the defendants made public statements regarding the average expected 

life of the wells to be drilled and the rate of returns on these wells. Id.  

However, the defendants had access to internal reports that showed that many 

of the wells were dry, abandoned, or had already been drilled before plaintiffs 

invested. Id. 

Here, Red River acted recklessly by ignoring reports of low-level seismic 

activity and the engineers’ concerns over the storage capacity of the wastewater 

storage facilities. In late 2017, Red River received calls from several universities 

that were concerned about low-level seismic activity that their geology 

departments reported. (R. at 5.) Wilson also was in talks with Red River’s 

engineering team, which believed that Red River should add additional 

wastewater storage facilities. (Id.) However, Wilson believed that the 

engineering team’s concerns only warranted further action should he decide to 

expand his operations. (Id.) 

                                       
 

without naming individuals directly responsible for the fraud as defendants. Hansen v. Marcus, 
619 F. 4th 57, 92 (14th Cir. 2015). Therefore, the issue has not been preserved for appeal. 
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On March 1, 2018, Red River’s Annual Report and Form 10-K stated 

“[t]here is no higher priority than ensuring that our drilling activity continues 

to be conducted in a manner consistent with preventing or remediating any 

damage resulting from an environmental occurrence.” (R. at 6.) Low-level 

seismic activity is an environmental occurrence; yet, Wilson decided that the 

reports from university geology departments did not warrant further 

investigation. At the very least, this shows Red River acted with severe 

recklessness because Red River chose to not investigate the claims by the 

geology departments prior to submitting the company’s 10-K. 

The 10-K also contained a statement that Red River “conduct[s] frequent 

environmental practices reviews to assure our commitment to environmental 

best practices and devote[s] our most talented personnel and a substantial 

budget to ensuring protection of the environment.” (Id.) Yet, when concerns 

were brought to Wilson’s attention, he decided that they were overstated and 

did not warrant further investigation. Wilson viewed compliance requirements 

as bureaucratic red tape. (Id. at 4.)  

In the present case, Wilson had access to information from the 

engineering team regarding the toxic wastewater storage facilities. This internal 

information was available prior to any of the statements made by Red River and 

Wilson. The information from the engineering team showed that there were 

legitimate environmental concerns that needed to be addressed. 

The recklessness standard is consistent with the PSLRA’s language and 

furthers the PSLRA’s policy goals by “discouraging deliberate ignorance and 
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preventing defendant’s from escaping liability solely because of the difficulty of 

proving conscious intent to commit fraud.” In re Advanta Corp. Sec. Litig., 180 

F.3d 525, 535 (3d Cir. 1999). It would be a perverse outcome for the court to 

allow the CEO to dictate what is and is not in a filing based on his or her 

anticipation of how the market will react. Eliminating recklessness is a 

perversion of the underlying purpose of the federal securities laws and would 

pave the path for corporations to start tailoring information based on what the 

corporation thinks the market’s reaction will be. 

II. A CLAIM FOR CONTROL PERSON LIABILITY UNDER SECTION 20(a) OF 
THE EXCHANGE ACT DOES NOT REQUIRE AN ALLEGATION THAT A 
CONTROL PERSON WAS A CULPABLE PARTICIPANT IN THE PRIMARY 
VIOLATION. 

 
The lower court erroneously granted Petitioners’ motion to dismiss 

Respondents’ claim under Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. The court 

incorrectly attributed its dismissal to Respondents’ failure to adequately allege 

a primary violation and culpable participation. A plaintiff’s claim for control 

person liability pursuant to Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act is grounded on a 

primary violation of securities law. Rombach v. Chang, 355 F.3d 164, 177-78 

(2d Cir. 2004).   

Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act provides: 
 
Every person who, directly or indirectly, controls any person liable 
under any provision of this chapter or of any rule or regulation 
thereunder shall also be liable jointly and severally with and to the 
same extent as such controlled person to any person to whom such 
controlled person is liable (including to the Commission in any 
action brought under paragraph (1) or (3) of section 78u(d) of this 
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title), unless the controlling person acted in good faith and did not 
directly or indirectly induce the act or acts constituting the violation 
or cause of action.  

 
15 U.S.C. § 78t(a) (2012). 

 
A successful claim rests on the ability of a plaintiff to properly allege the 

following: (1) a primary violation by a controlled person; and (2) control of the 

primary violator by the defendant. All courts unanimously agree on these 

elements. Lustgraaf v. Behrens, 619 F.3d 867, 873–74 (8th Cir. 2010). 

The term “control” is not expressly defined in the statute. Accordingly, 

courts rely on the SEC’s rules for the definition of “control.” In Poptech, L.P. v. 

Stewardship Credit Arbitrage Fund, LLC, the Court relied on the SEC’s codified 

definition of “control” pursuant to 17 C.F.R. § 240.12b-2 as follows: “the 

possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to cause the direction of the 

management and policies of a person, whether through the ownership of voting 

securities, by contract, or otherwise.” 792 F. Supp. 2d 328, 336 (D. Conn. 

2011). 

A. Two-Part Test for Control Person Liability  

In the instant case, the central issue is whether a claim for control 

person liability under 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a) requires an allegation that the control 

person was a culpable participant in the primary violation. This third element 

originated in the Second Circuit; however, the majority of circuit courts do not 

require culpable participation to establish a prima facie case for control person 

liability. In re Stone & Webster, Inc., Sec. Litig., 414 F.3d 187, 194 (1st Cir. 

2005). This is because those court regard the individual’s role in a company as 
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sufficient to establish control at the motion to dismiss stage. In re Cylink Sec. 

Litig., 178 F. Supp. 2d 1077, 1089 (N.D. Cal. 2001). 

i. Primary Violation 

Under the first element, a plaintiff must establish the presence of a 

primary violation of the Exchange Act for a Section 20(a) claim. The Fourteenth 

Circuit correctly held that Respondents plead sufficient evidence that 

Petitioners engaged in fraudulent misconduct in connection to the sale, 

purchase, or resale of a security under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 

promulgated thereunder. (R. at 23.)  

In In re CannaVest Corp. Securities Litigation, the court found that 

plaintiffs adequately alleged a Section 10(b) claim against the company. 307 F. 

Supp. 3d 222, 248 (S.D.N.Y. 2018). Plaintiffs alleged defendants misled 

investors regarding the value of their stock and value through a fraudulent 

scheme. Id. Specifically, the plaintiffs alleged that defendants: (1) 

“misrepresented and materially overstated the value of the . . . transaction and 

the amount of its intangible assets and goodwill acquired thereby;”  (2) 

overstated the company’s revenues; (3) misrepresented the source of their 

revenue; (4) failed to disclose a co-defendant under indictment, who was 

serving in the company’s management; and (5) misrepresented compliance with 

accounting standards. Id.  

Similarly, here, Respondents have alleged facts that show Petitioners 

made misstatements or omissions of material fact. For example, Petitioners 

misrepresented and materially overstated their priority of ensuring that drilling 
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activity was conducted in a manner consistent with preventing any damage 

resulting from an environmental occurrence despite serious environmental 

risks raised by the reports of seismic activity, wastewater storage capacity 

issues, and the excessive use of explosives during the fracking process on their 

10-K from March 1, 2018.  

ii. Control Person 

In S.E.C. v. First Jersey Sec., Inc., the court identified the components 

necessary to show the existence of “control over a primary violator.” 101 F.3d 

1450, 1472 (2d Cir. 1996). A court will find there is “control” in cases where 

the defendant possessed “the power to direct or cause the direction of the 

management and policies of a person, whether through the ownership of voting 

securities, by contract, or otherwise.” Id at 1472-73. This is consistent with the 

codified definition the SEC has promulgated through the rulemaking process. 

17 C.F.R. § 240.12b-2 (2012).  

However, in Laperriere v. Vesta Ins. Group, Inc., the court acknowledged 

that just like the statute, the regulation does not provide a particular definition 

applicable in all cases. Instead, it is relied upon for generic guidance since it is 

ultimately dependent on the particular factual circumstances. 526 F.3d 715 

(11th Cir. 2008). Generally, it has been held that courts should not resolve 

whether a person is a “controlling person” in a motion to dismiss because it is 

a fact-intensive inquiry. In re Exec. Telecard, Ltd. Sec. Litig., 913 F. Supp. 280, 

286 (S.D.N.Y. 1996).  
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Accordingly, there are various approaches a court will take in assessing 

whether an individual possessed and exercised control. Some courts will rely 

on the aforementioned SEC codified definition. In No. 84 Employer-Teamster 

Joint Council Pension Trust. Fund, the Ninth Circuit analyzed the control 

person’s ability to control specific corporate policy (i.e., such as the ability to 

elect the majority of the members of the board of directors) resulting in primary 

liability notwithstanding whether the alleged control was exercised or not. 320 

F.3d 920, 945–46 (9th Cir. 2003). Similarly, courts have looked at the 

corporate officers’ influence on the daily operations of a public company to 

infer an ability to control the transactions in questions. Flood v. Miller, 35 F. 

App'x 701, 703 (9th Cir. 2002).  

By contrast, the First Circuit has rejected a Section 20(a) claim in the 

absence of facts suggesting that the defendant actively participated in the 

decision-making processes of the company. Aldridge v. A.T. Cross Corp., 284 F. 

3d 824, 833 (1st Cir. 2002). Lastly, the Eighth Circuit applies a two-part test 

adopted in Metge v. Baehler, which requires the plaintiff to show that 

defendant: (1) “actually participated in (i.e., exercised control over) the 

operations of the corporation in general; then (2) he must prove that the 

defendant possessed the power to control the specific transaction or activity 

upon which the primary violation is predicated, but he need not prove that this 

later power was exercised.” 762 F.2d 621, 631 (8th Cir. 1985). 
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To demonstrate this point, we direct the Court’s attention to In re Xerox 

Corp. Securities Litigation., where the court held the following facts as sufficient 

to establish the second element of Section 20(a):  

 
[T]he Individual Defendants, because of their positions of control 
and authority as officers and directors of the Company, were able 
to, and did, control the contents of the various quarterly and annual 
financial reports, press releases and other public statements 
pertaining to the Company. Each Individual Defendant was provided 
with copies of the financial statements and documents alleged 
herein to be false and misleading prior to, or shortly after, their 
issuance, and had the ability and opportunity to prevent their 
issuance or to cause them to be corrected. 
 

165 F. Supp. 2d 208 (D. Conn. 2001).  
 
Herein, comparing what other courts in this district have found sufficient 

in asserting Section 20(a) liability, Respondents have sufficiently plead enough 

facts that would satisfy the requirements in any of the circuit courts (i.e. the 

two-part test in the Eighth Circuit). Much like Xerox, Petitioner Wilson 

possessed the necessary influence over the company’s daily operations as the 

founder and CEO of Red River. Specifically, Wilson directed employees to 

modify their messaging on public disclosures. The statements made were 

misleading because the statements cite environmental protection as Red River’s 

highest priority when, in fact, its management was disregarding environmental 

risks posed by the reports of seismic activity, wastewater storage capacity 

issues, and the excessive use of explosives during the fracking process.  

B. An adoption of the Second Circuit’s “Culpable Participation” 
requirement for a Prima Facie Case of Control Person Liability is 
inconsistent with the plain-language of the statute 
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Currently, there is disagreement amongst the circuit courts regarding 

whether a Section 20(a) claim requires a plaintiff to plead a third element: 

culpable participation. In Lanza v. Drexel & Co., the Second Circuit introduced 

the term “culpable participation.” 479 F.2d 1277, 1299 (2d Cir. 1973). Adding 

to the issue, the term was left undefined by the Second Circuit; consequently 

there is also a split within the district courts as to whether the PSLRA’s 

heightened pleading standard should apply. In re Initial Pub. Offering Sec. Litig., 

241 F. Supp. 2d 281, 393 (S.D.N.Y. 2003). 

A plaintiff establishes “culpable participation” through a showing of 

scienter on the part of a controlling person to the extent that it would satisfy 

Section 10(b). Strougo v. Barclays PLC, 334 F. Supp. 3d 591, 596 (S.D.N.Y. 

2018). With regard to the jurisdictional split regarding the pleading standards 

for culpable participation, there are two positions: these courts will require the 

plaintiff to satisfy: (1) the heightened pleading standard of Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure 9(b) or (2) the heightened standard of the PSLRA.  

i. Majority View  

The majority of courts have found that culpable participation is not an 

essential element of a prima facie case for control person liability under Section 

20 of the Exchange Act. Laperriere, 526 F.3d 715, 723–24 (11th Cir. 2008). 

This view is supported by the court’s discussion in In re Energy Recovery, 

where the court reasoned that allegations regarding a defendant’s role and 

position within the company is enough to substantiate control at the motion to 
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dismiss stage. 375 F. Supp. 2d 983, 1031–32 (S.D. Cal. 2005). Furthermore, 

once the plaintiff establishes control the burden shifts, and it is up to the 

defendant to show that his conduct was either in (1) good faith or (2) he did not 

indirectly induce the acts that led to the primary violation. Paracor Fin., Inc. v. 

Gen. Elec. Capital Corp., 96 F.3d 1151, 1161 (9th Cir. 1996). 

ii. Minority View  

The Second and Third Circuits are in the minority position that view 

culpable participation as a necessary element of a control person liability 

claim. ATSI Commc'ns, Inc. v. Shaar Fund, Ltd., 493 F.3d 87, 108 (2d Cir. 

2007). These courts require the plaintiff to allege facts that would prove 

scienter and a showing of misbehavior or recklessness in the Section 10(b) 

framework to survive a motion to dismiss. Id. at 99. For instance, a court will 

consider the culpable participation element satisfied if the plaintiff alleges 

conduct suggesting the defendant knew or should have known that a primary 

violator engaged in fraudulent activity. Special Situations Fund III QP, L.P. v. 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA, Ltd., 33 F. Supp. 3d 401, 439 (S.D.N.Y. 2014).  

Moving to the case at hand, we urge the Court to reject the culpable 

participation element as a requisite for a Section 20(a) claim for control person 

liability because it is inconsistent with the plain-language of the statute. The 

text of Section 20(a) does not reference or invite this additional element. 15 

U.S.C. § 78t(a) (2012). Allegations concerning an individual’s responsibilities 

are sufficient to establish “control” at the motion to dismiss stage. In re Cylink 

Sec. Litig., 178 F. Supp. 2d 1077, 1089 (N.D. Cal. 2001). 
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Further, the majority of the circuits view such requirement as 

inconsistent with the language of Section 20(a) because the statute is 

dependent mainly on the control relationship, rather than the culpable 

participation, which is comparable to scienter. Special Situations Fund III QP, 

L.P., 33 F. Supp. 3d 401, 438 (S.D.N.Y. 2014). 

 On the other hand, the minority’s position is based under a theory that 

Congress adopted Section 20(a) to impose liability only on individuals that 

meaningfully participated in the primary fraud. Lanza at 1299. We disagree. A 

successful claim needs only allege a (1) primary violation and establish (2) the 

existence of control. The burden then shifts to the defendant. To make a good 

faith argument as an affirmative defense  

C. Even if the Court adopts the Culpable Participation, the facts 
alleged are sufficient to find liable under Section 20(a)  

 
Assuming arguendo that the third element of culpable participation is 

adopted, Respondents would still prevail. The facts suggest that Wilson knew, 

or at the very least should have known, that Red River was engaged in 

fraudulent conduct. Courts in the Second Circuit require a plaintiff to plead 

culpable participation with scienter, which can be established by pleading 

conscious misbehavior or recklessness. In re Cannavest Corp. Sec. Litig., 307 F. 

Supp. 3d 222, 254 (S.D.N.Y. 2018). In In re Cannavest Corp. Sec. Litig., the 

court held that since plaintiffs had sufficiently plead a primary violation under 

Section 10(b), the scienter element is satisfied for purposes of Section 20(a). Id. 
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Similarly, here, Wilson knew about the misstatements made to investors. 

This is supported by the reports of issues that he received throughout the 

whole process and his decision to not investigate further. Wilson should have 

investigated because a failure to do so is attributable to a defendant that 

“purposefully buried his head in the sand” to avoid learning what the investors 

were being told. Poptech, L.P., 792 F. Supp. 2d 328, 342 (D. Conn. 2011). 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated herein, Respondents respectfully requests this Court 

to affirm the decision of the Court of Appeals that Respondents adequately 

alleged a Section 10(b) violation by Red River and stated a claim against Wilson 

under Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act.  

 

Respectfully Submitted, /s/  

_____________________________ 

Team # R13 

Counsel for the Respondents’ 
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APPENDIX 

Alleged Statement 
Maker & Source 

Alleged Statement Statement 
Type 

March 1, 2018 10-K “Our commitment to the environment is 
unwavering and constant.” 

Commitment 

March 1, 2018 10-K “There is no higher priority than ensuring 
that our drilling activity continues to be 
conducted in a manner consistent with 
preventing or remediating any damage 
resulting from an environmental 
occurrence.” 

Commitment 

March 1, 2018 10-K “We continue to conduct frequent 
environmental practices reviews to 
assure our commitment to environmental 
best practices and devote our most 
talented personnel and a substantial 
budget to ensure protection of the 
environment.” 

Practices 

March 1, 2018 10-K “Our commitment to the environment is 
demonstrated through our investment in 
and adoption of the latest technology in 
order to minimize water or soil 
contamination. This commitment 
differentiates us from our competitors.” 

Practices 

March 1, 2018 10-K “Fracking involves no serious 
environmental issues not associated with 
conventional drilling.” 

Risk 

Wilson, May 15, 2018 
Investor Conference 

“I think we have the tightest 
environmental practices in the West 
Texas oil patch.” 

Wilson 

Wilson, May 15, 2018 
Investor Conference 

“Candidly, I honestly believe a 
major environmental event has about a 
zero percent chance of occurring on our 
property. We just pay too much attention 
for that to happen.” 

Wilson 

June 1, 2018 10-Q “Our operations could be subject to 
disruption by natural disasters beyond 
our control, including … severe storms, 
fires, earthquakes, civil unrest, and 
terrorist attacks.” 

 

Risk 

 

 


